RECEIVED

Mar 20 2026

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2024-001749

The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

William Gray Ackerman, Jr.Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Elizabeth A. Franklin-Best
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113
Columbia, South Carolina 29204
(803) 445-1333

Counsel for Appellant

Other Counsel:
W. Joseph Maye
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court judge erred in allowing the State to introduce a text message authored by McClendon and sent to a third party as an offer of McClendon's then existing state of mind per Rule 803(3) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, although McClendon lacked personal knowledge of the contents of the texts and the text did not fall within an exception to the hearsay rule?
2. Whether the trial court judge erred in denying Ackerman's request that the jury be instructed on involuntary manslaughter although there existed evidence in the record tending to reduce the offense from murder to manslaughter and Ackerman's actions in driving on the wrong side of the road, although unlawful, did not naturally tend to cause death or great bodily injury under the facts of the case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

William Gray "Bud" Ackerman, Jr. was indicted by a Greenwood County grand jury for one (1) count of murder relating to the May 7, 2023, death of Kenneth "Davis" McClendon. Following a preliminary mistrial due to defense counsel's health issues, Ackerman was tried before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge, and a jury over September 23 through 26, 2024 and October 2 through 5, 2024. He was convicted as charged and sentenced to 45 years' imprisonment in the State Department of Corrections. Ackerman was represented by Jack B. Swerling, and the State was represented by Assistant Attorney Generals John P. Meadors and John B. Conrad.

This appeal timely follows.

Relevant Facts

In the early morning hours of May 7, 2023, William Gray “Bud” Ackerman, Jr. struck Kenneth “Davis” McClendon with his Ford F-250 truck at the intersection of Avid Road and Sawgrass Place within the Hunters Creek subdivision in Greenwood, South Carolina. ROA 333, 800; ROA 1022, 1274. McClendon died as a result of the injuries sustained from the impact. ROA 1022. The trial presented only one true question for the jury – whether the act was intentional. While State alleged that Ackerman had intentionally hit McClendon, Ackerman adamantly maintained it was an accident. ROA 234-61; ROA 1269, 1275, 1277, 1281, 1333, 1342, 1361-1441. The jury ultimately found the State’s version of events to be accurate beyond a reasonable doubt, finding Ackerman guilty of the murder of McClendon. ROA 1455-56.

However, in securing this conviction, the State introduced improper and prejudicial hearsay evidence alleging Ackerman was “drunk” and trying to “hunt down” his estranged wife, Meredith Haynie, whom McClendon was dating at the time. ROA 623, 702-05; ROA 1232, 1347, 1349. This error was compounded by the fact that the trial court erroneously declined to instruct the jury on involuntary manslaughter instead of just murder despite the defense’s request for the instruction on the lesser included offense.¹ ROA 1351-1352.

The May 7, 2023 12:42:14 a.m. Text from McClendon to Brandon Smith

At trial, the State sought to introduce a text message purportedly authored by McClendon and sent to Brandon Smith at 12:42:14 a.m. on May 7, 2023, saying:

FYI, apparently Bud is drunk and out trying to hunt Meredith down. She’s wanting to call the cops. I was hoping maybe you could get his dad to rope him in.

¹ *State v. Scott*, 414 S.C. 482, 487, 779 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2015) (“Involuntary manslaughter is a lesser included offense of murder.”)

ROA 623; ROA 1347, 1349.

The State acknowledged McClendon's text was hearsay, but offered it under South Carolina Rules of Evidence, Rule 803(3) as a statement of McClendon's then existing state of mind. ROA 623-24. The State argued that video footage showing both McClendon sending the text, as well as Haynie showing McClendon her phone as calls were incoming from Ackerman, supported their position. ROA 625-26.

The defense objected, arguing, in pertinent part, that the text to Smith was sent prior to any conversation between McClendon and Ackerman that night, so McClendon would not have had any personal knowledge of what was reflected in his text; it was mere assumption, speculation, conjecture, or opinion on his part. ROA 626. Defense counsel further argued that the statement failed meet the requirements of Rule 803(3) to be an offer of McClendon's then existing state of mind. ROA 628.

The trial court concluded that the text was not admissible, as it did not fit within any exception to the hearsay rule under Rule 803 or 804 of the Rules of Evidence. ROA 629. The court expounded upon its holding, noting that in the State's cited case law in support of its position, *State v. Weston*, 367 S.C. 279, 625 S.E.2d 641 (2006), the statement offered applied to the victim's own state of mind, and in the instant case, the text went possibly to Haynie's state of mind, but definitely not to McClendon's state of mind. ROA 629. Accordingly, the text did not come in at that time.

The defense later sought to introduce, through Ackerman's testimony, the contents of McClendon's 2 minute and 18 second phone call with Ackerman enduring from 12:51:15 a.m. until

approximately 12:53 a.m. on May 7, 2023. ROA 687-88; ROA 1257-58. Specifically, the defense wished to introduce Ackerman's testimony as follows:

DEFENSE COUNSEL: [A]t that time, the nature of the conversation was what?

ACKERMAN: That [McClendon] was trying to be patient with me and that from, I guess [McClendon] was upset that I was trying to call Meredith so many times that evening to locate her. And then [McClendon] got pretty aggressive with me on the phone, said he wanted to kick my ass, and I told [McClendon], I said, Davis, you know, if you want to talk about it, you can come to my house, and we'll talk about it. And then there was some more rhetoric, you know, from, about, you know, how [McClendon] was going to beat my scrawny ass and, you know, this, that, and the other. But I told [McClendon] if he wanted to talk, he could come to my house, and we'll talk it out.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: So what was your communication to him about, was it talking?

ACKERMAN: That's correct.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: You wanted to talk?

ACKERMAN: Correct. That's why I said meet at my house.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: And what, was he expressing to you an aggressive tone?

ACKERMAN: He was.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Alright. And did you, were you clearly able to identify his voice at that time?

ACKERMAN: Oh, yeah.

...

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Did his communication with you affect the alter events between yourself and him?

ACKERMAN: It did.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: And was that something that led to what your state of mind was at this time?

...

ACKERMAN: Yes, sir.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: And based upon the communication he had with you, do you believe it was expressing his state of mind at that time?

ACKERMAN: Oh, yeah.

ROA 1258-59.

The defense offered this testimony as an exception to the hearsay rule and argued that the State's own references to this phone call between McClendon and Ackerman throughout their case in chief gave Ackerman's testimony to the call's contents an additional degree of reliability. ROA 1259-60.

The State objected to the admission of this testimony, stating that if McClendon's text with Smith was excluded, the trial court was required to reach the same result as to contents of the Ackerman-McClendon call - the offered testimony did not amount to an exception to the hearsay rule. ROA 1260.

Defense counsel countered that the court had made the proper ruling as to the text and the State's attempt to analogize McClendon's text to Ackerman's testimony was misplaced, as McClendon's knowledge of the contents of the text was derived from hearsay (i.e., based on Haynie's knowledge, not his own), whereas Ackerman's knowledge of McClendon's statements was firsthand (i.e., derived from his own conversation with McClendon). ROA 1261.

The prosecution replied arguing again that video footage showed both that McClendon was present when Ackerman was calling Haynie and that McClendon drafted the text to Smith, which they opined made the situations comparable. ROA 1261, 1263.

The trial court ultimately concluded that Ackerman could testify to the contents of his telephonic conversation with McClendon from 12:51 a.m. to 12:53 a.m. on May 7, 2023, as a state of mind exception to the hearsay rule, offered for the purpose of showing McClendon's emotional or mental state at the time of the call. ROA 1262. However, the court then also rescinded its earlier ruling regarding McClendon's text to Smith, noting that it should also be allowed to come in, because the court "consider[ed] both [of] those to be very, very similar." ROA 1262.

The defense objected to this rescinded ruling, reiterating that the situations were different due to McClendon's lack of firsthand knowledge that Ackerman was purportedly "drunk" and trying to "hunt" Haynie down, as he was relying on what Haynie was telling him. ROA 1262. The court responded, "Right. I understand. But again, I think it's close enough to where I'm going to rescind my ruling on that and allow it in." ROA 1262-63.

When the topic of McClendon's text to Smith came up on the State's cross examination of Ackerman, defense counsel renewed his objection, and the court confirmed it was preserved. ROA 1311. Defense counsel once again objected when the State called Lieutenant Matthew Womak as a reply witness to read McClendon's text to Smith into the record, and the court noted the objection on the record. ROA 1345-47.

The Court's Refusal to Instruct the Jury on Involuntary Manslaughter

The defense requested that the jury be charged on involuntary manslaughter, and the trial court denied such request. ROA 1351-52. In doing so, the judge indicated that, "involuntary

manslaughter can be an unlawful act not tending to cause death or great bodily injury,” but based on Ackerman’s testimony and the testimony of the defense’s own expert in accident reconstruction, Ackerman was “driving on the wrong side of the road and ... while it’s a very less traveled road, it’s still a public road and ... that was an unlawful act and that act does tend to cause death or great bodily injury when a vehicle crosses the center line or goes over into the other lane of travel, so ... involuntary manslaughter would not apply.” ROA 1352. As to the alternate theory of involuntary manslaughter – i.e., a lawful act conducted with a reckless disregard for the safety of others – the court concluded that, because it had ruled “as a matter of law ... [that] there was an unlawful act, ... involuntary manslaughter would not apply” under that theory either.² ROA 1352 (italics added).

In support of its position that an involuntary manslaughter instruction was appropriate in the instant case, the defense argued that the instruction was required if there was any evidence at all of the lesser offense, and there was evidence of involuntary manslaughter in the instant case.

² However, the court did agree to give the charge of accident at the defense’s request, acknowledging that this was at odds with his ruling on the involuntary manslaughter charge because “the language in the accident charge does refer to a lawful act.” ROA 1352. Judge Hocker nonetheless found it appropriate to “allow the jury to make that determination whether or not there was a lawful act notwithstanding the fact that [the court had] ruled as a matter of law in the involuntary manslaughter request that there was an unlawful act.” ROA 1352. The following accident instruction was read to the jury:

An act may be excused on the ground of accident if it is shown that the act was unintentional, that the Defendant was acting lawfully, and that reasonable care was used by the Defendant in the operation of his vehicle. The burden is on the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt to prove that the act was not an accident but was caused by the negligence or carelessness on the part of the Defendant in the operation of his vehicle or by unlawful activity by the Defendant.

ROA 1450.

ROA 1354-55. Defense counsel further expressed that case law reflected that the location of the crash was a critical factor regarding the applicability of the manslaughter charge and whether Ackerman's unlawful behavior tended to cause death or serious bodily injury in this case. ROA 1355-56. Specifically, counsel noted that, while Avid Road was a public road, its intersection with Sawgrass Place, i.e., where the incident occurred, was not a through road, but instead a dead end road, and therefore, the defense should be entitled to the involuntary manslaughter charge to allow the jury to consider the circumstances – rather than the trial court merely considering the literal language of the charge – and whether, in that situation, crossing the middle line could cause death or serious bodily injury. ROA 1355-56. In support of this argument, Attorney Swerling analogized the situation in the instant case to that in *State v. Chatman*, 336 S.C. 149, 519 S.E.2d 100 (1999), where the Supreme Court concluded that the circumstances of the unlawful act in that case did not intrinsically be of a level likely to cause death, meaning the involuntary manslaughter charge was appropriate there, and should also be given in this case. ROA 1357. Counsel concluded with the defense's position that, at “that location,” i.e., the intersection of Avid Road and Sawgrass Place, it “would not be a situation where it would intrinsically rise to a level likely to cause death by being on the wrong side of the road.” ROA 1357.

The defense also argued that the jury should be entitled to consider the following additional circumstances of the case in determining whether the situation posed a risk of death or great bodily injury: (1) Ackerman's description of pulling up beside McClendon's car provided an explanation for why he was on the wrong side of the road; and (2) that Ackerman's position on the road would not be classified a felony violation. ROA 1357-59.

Attorney Swerling concluded by stating, “there is existence of ... evidence and the jury should determine the weight of it, and I ask the court to consider charging [involuntary manslaughter].” ROA 1359.

The State did not offer argument on the matter, and Judge Hocker rendered his final ruling, reiterating that the charge would not be given as requested by the defense, referencing the following factors in support of its position: (1) with regard to whether the defendant’s act tends to cause death or great bodily harm, in this case a death did, in fact, occur from the conduct; (2) Ackerman acknowledged that he had been driving on the wrong side of the road; and (3) the defense’s expert also confirmed Ackerman was in the wrong lane of travel. ROA 1360.

The State argued in both their closing and reply that Ackerman acted illegally by driving on the wrong side of the road. ROA 1380, 1431, 1435. In his closing, Attorney Swerling did not directly contest this, but made note of the fact that the intersection of Avid Road and Sawgrass Place, although consisting of two lanes, was a dead end with no through traffic. ROA 1411, 1413, 1416.

The Arrest, Indictment, and Trial

On May 7, 2023, Ackerman was arrested in connection with McClendon's death. ROA 399; ROA 1035-1036, 1279. He was thereafter indicted for murder per Greenwood County Indictment No. 2023-GS-24-958, as follows:

William Gray Ackerman, Jr. did, in Greenwood County on or about May 7, 2023, unlawfully kill with malice aforethought, either express or implied, Kenneth Davis McClendon, to wit, by driving a 2019 Ford F-250 and ramming it into the body of Kenneth Davis McClendon, and that Kenneth Davis McClendon did die as a proximate result thereof, in violation of Section 16-3-10 of the Code of Laws for South Carolina.

ROA 79.

On June 10, 2024, the case of the State of South Carolina versus William Gray Ackerman, Jr. was called for jury selection. S.ROA 3-96. A jury was selected, admonished, and ordered to return in two weeks for the trial. S.ROA 96-101. The matter came back before Judge Hocker and the jury on June 24, 2024, as scheduled but was pushed back to the week of July 8, 2024, after defense counsel experienced a medical issue during his opening argument. S.ROA 106, 126-129. The trial resumed as scheduled and continued until July 10, 2024, when a mistrial was declared after defense counsel's health issues recurred. S.ROA 292-97.

After Attorney Swerling's health had improved, a new trial date was set and, on September 23, 2023, a second jury was selected. ROA 220. On September 24, 2023, the parties delivered their opening arguments, and the State began presenting its case. ROA 234-61, 268. The State's case continued through September 25 and 26, 2024, and then picked back up on October 2 and 3, 2024. ROA 268-803; ROA 815-1055. In support of their case, the State offered the testimony of Terry Cummings and Roderick Maceda, each of whom were used to introduce surveillance video recordings from their homes near the site of the collision. ROA 268-325. Mary Alice Poole, one

owner of the Key West Club, and Patrick Hensarling, general manager of the Break on the Lake restaurant, were similarly called to assist in the introduction of video footage from their respective establishments. ROA 402-17, 527-31. A custodian of records for Verizon Wireless, Anthony Knecht, validated the cell phone records introduced by the State. ROA 532-46.

The prosecution also presented testimony from Meredith Haynie, who was Ackerman's wife at the time (soon to be ex-wife), McClendon's girlfriend at the time of his death, and a percipient witness to both the events in the weeks, days, and hours leading up to the crash on May 7, 2023, as well as one of the first persons to arrive at the scene following the incident. ROA 698-760. They additionally called Megan McGovern, another one of the first individuals to the scene, as well as the individual who called 911 (ROA 325-47), and Abigail Mohajer, who offered percipient testimony regarding the events earlier in the evening of May 6, 2023, and into the night of May 7, 2023 (ROA 815-830).

Moreover, several first responders, investigators, and other law enforcement personnel also testified and, through their testimony assisted the State introducing photographs, body camera footage, maps, reports, text messages, digital data, and other information into evidence. These individuals included the following: Greenwood County paramedic Andrew Kight; Northwest Fire Department volunteer fireman Arsenio Lewis; Greenwood County Sheriff's Office Captain John Murdock, Lieutenant Matthew Womack, Corporal Michael Mejia, Investigators Patrick Durkin and Michael Dixon, and evidence technician Greg Allison; Greenville County Sheriff's Office Investigator Michael Bryan; South Carolina Law Enforcement Division ("SLED") forensic scientists Rachel Nguyen and Samuel Stewart, forensic serologist Samanth Selden, and Special Agent Brian Hudak; South Carolina Highway Patrol Corporal Christopher Bratcher and Trooper

David Andis; and City of Greenwood Police Department Officer Benjamin Baker. ROA 348-402, 420-525, 547-619, 635-94, 760-803; ROA 830-934, 938-981, 1032-55, 1345-50. Finally, the State called Dr. Kyle Shaw, a forensic pathologist who completed the autopsy of McClendon, to testify to his findings. ROA 990-1030.

The defense then presented its case over October 3 and 4, 2024, calling Ackerman (ROA 1228-1345), as well as two accident reconstruction experts, David Torres (ROA 1056-1106) and Jonathan Nelson, who has a focus in visibility and conspicuity (ROA 1109-1222), to testify.

Through the parties' offered evidence and testimony, the following was elicited at trial:

William "Bud" Ackerman, Jr. and Meredith (Haynie) Ackerman³ met in 2006, dated for six years before marrying in February 2012, and had three children together. ROA 700-01; ROA 1231. The family resided at 115 Tally Ho Drive in the Hunters Creek subdivision in Greenwood, South Carolina. ROA 329, 701-02; ROA 1238. However, after ten years of marriage, the couple separated in May of 2022 and thereafter initiated divorce proceedings. ROA 701-03, 707; ROA 1232, 1334, 1336. Haynie remained in the family home and Ackerman moved in with his parents at 1714 Old Abbeville Highway, located near the subdivision. ROA 703, 707; ROA 1233-34, 1248-49.

On December 23, 2022, Haynie met McClendon, a longtime friendly acquaintance of Ackerman, at the Key West Club, a private bar in Greenwood. ROA 404, 703-04, 706; ROA 1242. The two thereafter started dating but kept their relationship private initially. ROA 704-05.

On or about April 29, 2023, Ackerman learned that Haynie and McClendon were rumored to be dating; Haynie confirmed they were. ROA 705; ROA 1242-43. Ackerman was emotional upon

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