STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Greenwood County
The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Apr 06 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM GRAY ACKERMAN, JR.,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2024-001749

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6307

DAVID STUMBO
Eighth Circuit Solicitor's Office
P. O. Box 516
Greenwood, South Carolina 29648-0516

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

finding that the probative value outweighs the unfair prejudice and explicitly noted that it was not excluding the evidence under Rule 403. (Sept R. p. 629).

A few days further into the trial, this issue resurfaced. During Appellant's case-in-chief, Appellant attempted to testify to what Davis stated during his first phone conversation that took place at 12:51:15am on May 7th. (Oct R. p. 1258-1259). The State objected on the basis of hearsay, and Appellant argued that the testimony goes to [Davis's] state of mind as to what happened later in the evening." (Oct R. p. 1259). The trial court proceeded to hear the testimony outside the presence of the jury. Thereafter, Appellant testified that Davis initiated the call and stated:

He was trying to be, he called and said he was trying to be patient with me and that from, I guess he was upset that I was trying to call Meredith so many times that evening to locate her. And then he got pretty aggressive with me on the phone, said he wanted to kick my ass, and I told him, I said, Davis, you know, if you want to talk about it, you can come to my house, and we'll talk about it. And then there was more rhetoric, you know, from, about, you know, how he was going to beat my scrawny ass and, you know, this, that, and the other. But I told him if he wanted to talk, he could come to my house, and we'll talk it out.

(Oct R. p. 1260). The State again objected on the basis that state of mind is permitted, but not the reason for the state-of-mind, and that Appellant had clearly presented the reason for the state of mind. The State then referenced its own prior argument regarding the text to Brandon Smith, noting that Appellant is now seeking to admit hearsay under the same argument that it previously sought to exclude it. (Oct R. p. 1262). Appellant attempted to distinguish the Brandon Smith text message as lacking firsthand knowledge supporting the state of mind in question. The State argued that the two situations were quite similar, noting again that Davis had first-hand knowledge because Davis was present when the communications were coming in, he could be seen looking at them and watching them take place in the surveillance video. (Oct R. p. 1263).

The trial court took another break to consider the matter. When the court returned he found

that he was going to allow Appellant's request to admit the statements made by Davis to Appellant under the state of mind exception to hearsay. However, the court then noted the State's 803(3) evidence it had previously excluded, found that it too was "a very, very similar" expression of Davis's state of mind in light of Appellant's actions that night, and rescinded its prior ruling such that the State could admit the text via reply. (Oct R. p. 1264). Following the ruling, Appellant testified similarly before the jury, noting that Davis was "pretty aggravated" with him about the number of times he was calling Meredith that evening. He described Davis as "being hostile and aggressive over the phone, said he wanted to kick my ass, and you know, meet up with me and kick my scrawny ass, and I told him that he could come to my house and we can talk about it if he wanted to." (Oct R. p. 1267).

On the topic of a fight potentially taking place, he reiterated that it was Davis who was aggravated; he had no intention of fighting. He then characterized the disparity in size between himself and Davis. Appellant went on to testify about a second phone call from Davis at 12:59am, wherein Davis changed the location for their meeting. He then described Davis as having seemingly calmed down. (Oct R. p. 1268-1269). When he called Davis at 1:09am, Appellant claimed that he told Davis he was already home and would not be coming to meet him. He then described Davis's reaction as: "He had a few choice words about me going back to mom and daddy's house. . . he called me a f***ing p***y." (Oct R. p. 1268). Appellant then testified that he continued the conversation until Davis appeared calm down again, and that Davis had agreed to simply wanting to talk. According to Appellant's testimony, it was at this juncture that he drove to the meeting spot. (Oct R. p. 1270).

On cross-examination, Appellant denied knowing that Meredith was with Davis until his

12:42am phone call and he denied ever telling Meredith that he wanted to talk to Davis.¹⁰ (Oct Tr. p. 497). He also disputed that he was “driving around and drinking,” but confirmed Meredith had said she was going to call the police on him for drunk driving. (Oct R. p. 1313). On redirect, Appellant reiterated that he understood from some of Davis’s phone calls that his purpose for meeting was “to fight.” He followed through with meeting Davis because he believed Davis had calmed down. (Oct R. p. 1339).

In reply, Lieutenant Womack was recalled. He identified Exhibit 30 as the text message to Brandon Smith from Davis on May 7th, at 12:42:14am. The exhibit was admitted and Lieutenant Womack read the text aloud. (Oct R. p. 1348-1351).

Discussion

The ruling of the trial court was not in error, and for a plethora of reasons, the evidence in question was admissible and otherwise entirely lacking in prejudice toward Appellant. There is no basis for a finding of reversible error.

The exception set forth under South Carolina Rule of Evidence 803(3) permits the admission of otherwise hearsay evidence when such constitutes the:

then existing mental, emotional, or physical condition. A statement of the **declarant's then existing state of mind**, emotion, sensation, or physical condition (such as **intent**, plan, **motive**, design, mental feeling, pain, and bodily health), but not including a statement of memory or belief to prove the fact remembered or believed **unless it relates to the execution**, revocation, identification, or terms **of declarant's will**.

(emphasis added). Such statements “may either directly or circumstantially show the declarant's state of mind, emotion, or physical condition.” *State v. Garcia*, 334 S.C. 71, 76, 512 S.E.2d 507,

¹⁰ Appellant’s denial was ultimately general in nature, but the question was first directed in reference to the phone call he had with Meredith at 12:38am. (Oct R. p. 1303).

509 (1999) (citing M. Graham, *Handbook of Federal Evidence* (1996)). Here the state of mind of Davis was that of concern (via both circumstantial evidence and direct evidence) and the intent/motive of getting Appellant under control through the contact and assistance of his family members. That's permissible because the content set forth explained why Davis took the action that he did (texted Brandon Smith for help) – it relates to the execution of Davis's will.

Appellant's argument attempts to challenge Davis's competency as a witness under Rule 602 by arguing that he would not have had personal knowledge of the matters to which his text was directed. This is not accurate, both by the record and in consideration of the circumstances. First, the *record* demonstrates that at least one of the phone calls that Meredith had with Appellant *was taken via facetime/video call*. (Sept R. p. 718-719). This particular call was also the one where Appellant asked about Meredith's location, whom she was with, and stated, "Well, I'll see you later tonight." As there is nothing within the record to suggest Meredith used a headset of some kind, both Appellant's and Meredith's statements during the Facetime call were audible to Davis personally. Second, regarding the phone calls that were not conducted via Facetime, Davis is not learning about the events, actions, and statements of Appellant and Meredith after the fact. He is observing them take place; he is hearing Meredith accuse Appellant of being drunk and her threats to call the police in real time. To the extent that his text is based upon such, Meredith's statements constitute a present sense impression exception to hearsay and can be properly relied upon by Davis. Third, Davis's text is not based solely on spoken content, his state of mind is also formulated on the basis of Appellant's actions that he personally observed. Despite Meredith making it clear to Appellant that she did not want to speak to him, he personally witnessed Appellant call Meredith repeatedly throughout the night, often numerous times over just a minute or two. Davis was witnessing Appellant *harass* Meredith, and his state of mind established in his text to Brandon is

just as much based upon those collective observations. Davis is not relying on the hearsay of others to formulate his state of mind. He is hearing the conversations and experiencing Appellant's behaviors in tandem with Meredith that night. For that reason, Appellant's argument against admissibility fails.

Appellant also fails to establish any basis for prejudice resulting from the text message sent to Brandon Smith because it was admitted after each and every portion of the text had already been attested to in some way by Meredith during the trial, and/or proven by evidence of Appellant's behavior and admissions at trial. Meredith had already testified that based upon her sixteen years of knowing, living with, and conversing with Appellant, she knew that he was drunk during his phone calls to her that night. Additionally, the State presented persuasive video evidence that Appellant was intoxicated that night, given the number of trips to the bar he made while at Key West. For the truth of the matter asserted, "fyi – apparently Bud is drunk" had been well established by the State. Secondly, both Meredith's testimony and Appellant's own testimony confirmed that he was going to extreme lengths to find Meredith that night. The State presented unrefuted evidence that Appellant was "out trying to hunt Meredith down."¹¹ Thirdly, Meredith testified explicitly that she wanted to call the cops and even informed Appellant of her intent to do so. "She is wanting to call the cops" is again a well-established fact of the case by the State. Fourthly, Meredith's testimony demonstrated that she called four of Appellant's family members in an effort to find someone to get him under control that night. Davis's text that "I was hoping maybe you could get his dad to rope him in" to Appellant's cousin, Brandon Smith, provides merely

¹¹ While Appellant attempts to exaggerate the insidious nature of the word "hunt" used in the text, Respondent would argue that it is merely a colloquialism and does not convey an intention for violence. Nevertheless, the harassing nature of Appellant's behavior that night certainly warranted Davis's phrasing.

cumulative evidence of the same established fact. Lastly, taken as a whole the text is not overly inflammatory toward Appellant's behaviors as it has not demonstrated violence toward Davis or even the expectation of violence toward Davis at that time.¹² *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 478, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93–94 (2011) (“Improperly admitted hearsay which is merely cumulative to other evidence may be viewed as harmless.”).

Nothing about Davis's text is lacking sound evidentiary proof already set forth in the record and therefore no prejudice can arise. Appellant cannot establish reversible error on the part of the court in the absence of prejudice. *Id.*

Appellant's argument seems to address the issue as if the evidence had only ever been offered for purposes of the State's case-in-chief, and absent the circumstances that led the court and parties to revisit the ruling *as part of the State's Reply*. The manner in which this issue played out demonstrates that Appellant opened the door to the issue of Davis's state of mind and made the topic a relevant matter at trial. Appellant described Davis as being aggressive, hostile, threatening, and derogatory toward him while carrying the expressed intent of wanting to fight (even if Appellant testified that he believed Davis to have calmed down prior to their meeting). These descriptions of Davis's state of mind were presented at 12:51am. The State's Exhibit 30, a text sent just 9 minutes earlier, became admissible evidence in reply because it impeached Appellant's characterizations of Davis's state of mind, and in Davis's own words, it demonstrated how he was calm, concerned, and seeking to merely get Appellant to end his search for Meredith and go home. In contradiction to that intent, Appellant's testimony suggests that Appellant was

¹² It is also important to consider the fact that Appellant benefited greatly from the court's decision to admit his own presented 803(3) evidence. Davis's text is particularly tame, but to the extent Appellant insists that the court misapplied Rule 803(3), Appellant was able to utilize the court's ruling to his considerable advantage by detailing Davis's alleged threatening and aggressive comments to him during their first phone call.

goaded back out to Avid Court to speak with Davis. The evidence in reply to impeach that assertion was admissible. *State v. Page*, 378 S.C. 476, 482, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (Ct. App. 2008) (“It is firmly established that otherwise inadmissible evidence may be properly admitted when opposing counsel opens the door to that evidence.”); *Accord State v. Taylor*, 333 S.C. 159, 171, 508 S.E.2d 870, 876 (1998) (“Where Rule 106, SCRE, applies, it does not require all of the document to be introduced, merely ‘any other part of any other writing or recorded statement *which ought in fairness to be considered contemporaneously with it.*’” (emphasis added)); *State v. Adams*, 322 S.C. 114, 122, 470 S.E.2d 366, 370 (1996), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Giles*, 407 S.C. 14, 754 S.E.2d 261 (2014) (res gestae evidence is appropriate to complete the story and provide the immediate context of the crime being litigated).

The issue should also be viewed in the lens of additional sustaining grounds. Given the nature of the other evidence presented at trial, the evidence arguably does not constitute hearsay because it was not offered as an out-of-court statement seeking to prove the matter asserted. It was admitted to demonstrate how Davis reacted to the circumstances he believed to be the truth – regardless of whether they were the truth. While this was not the tack taken by the State at trial, it is nonetheless a sound basis for deeming the evidence admissible.

If the hearsay nature of the evidence is still presumed, then the evidence is admissible as a present sense impression. Rule 803(1) requires: “(1) the statement must describe or explain an event or condition; (2) the statement must be contemporaneous with the event; and (3) the declarant must have personally perceived the event.” *State v. Hendricks*, 408 S.C. 525, 533, 759 S.E.2d 434, 438 (Ct. App. 2014). Here, the text explained the events and circumstances in concern: Appellant was drunk, looking for Meredith, and was in need of being “roped in.” The text was made while Appellant was in the process of looking for Meredith and contemporaneously with Meredith’s and

Davis's exhausted patience for the manner Appellant was seeking to communicate with Meredith (incessant phone calls). Thirdly, as was argued by the State at trial, Davis was with Meredith witnessing these conversations as they were happening. He therefore personally observed the events that created the condition for which he spoke and acted.

As demonstrated above, the evidence was appropriate under numerous theories and the court did not err in admitting the text message. In the alternative, any error in the admission of the evidence is cumulative, without prejudice, and definitively harmless. The ruling of the trial court should therefore be affirmed.

II. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's request for an involuntary manslaughter charge.

Issue as it was presented at trial

Following an informal charge conference, the trial court stated for the record that Appellant had requested an involuntary manslaughter charge. The court noted that it had denied that charge, finding that Appellant cannot satisfy either of the circumstances for which an involuntary manslaughter charge would be appropriate – i.e. engaging in an unlawful act that does not tend to cause death or great bodily injury or engaging in a []lawful¹³ act with reckless disregard for the safety of others. Specifically, the trial court found that by Appellant's own testimony and the testimony of his expert witness, he committed the unlawful act of driving on the wrong side of the road and that such actions directly resulted in death. The court concluded that that such actions naturally tend to cause death and great bodily injury, and as a result, the first basis for charging involuntary manslaughter could not be met. The court then ruled that because there was an

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